HOUSE FI NANCE COWM TTEE
February 21, 2002
1: 52 PM
TAPE HFC 02 — 30, Side A

CALL TO ORDER

Co-Chair WIllianms called the House Finance Commttee neeting
to order at 1:52 PM

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative El don Mul der, Co-Chair
Representative Bill WIlIlianms, Co-Chair
Representative Con Bunde, Vice-Chair
Representative Eric Croft
Representati ve John Davi es
Representative Ri chard Foster
Representative John Harris
Representative Bill Hudson
Representati ve Ken Lancaster
Representative Carl Mses
Representative Ji m Wit aker

VEMBERS ABSENT

None
ALSO PRESENT

Representative Fred Dyson; Representative Kevin Mers,
Sponsor; Joann G bbens, Program Adm nistrator, Division of
Division of Famly and Youth Services, Departnent of Health
and Soci al Services; Renond Henderson, Director, D vision of
Adm ni strative Services, Departnment of Labor and Wbrkforce
Devel opnent ; Rebecca Nance Ganez, Deputy Director,
Department  of Labor and Workforce Devel opnent; Ri ch
Mastriano, Division of Labor and Standards, Departnent of
Labor and Workforce Devel opnent; Laura Hugonin, Executive
Director, Alaska Network on Donestic Violence and Sexual
Assaul t.

PRESENT VI A TELECONFERENCE

Rosel ynn Cacy, Adult Learning Center, Anchorage.
SUMVARY
HB 56 "An Act relating to m ni num wages."

HB 56 was reschedul ed and not heard.

House Fi nance Committee 1 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



HB 209 "An Act directing the Departnment of Health and
Soci al Services to establish a foster care
transition program relating to that program and
providing for an effective date."”

CSHB 209 (HSS) was REPORTED out of Conmittee with
a "do pass" recomendation and with a previously
publ i shed zero fiscal note: #1 (LAW.

HB 262 " An Act relating to accounti ng for and
appropriations of receipts from fees collected by
the Departnment of Labor and Workforce Devel opnent
for certain inspections and for certain plunbing
and electrical worker certificates of fitness;
establishing a building safety account; and
providing for an effective date."

HB 262 was heard and HELD in Commttee for further
consi derati on.

HB 297 "An  Act related to aggravating factors at
sent enci ng. "

CSHB 297 (JUD) was REPORTED out of Conmittee with
a "do pass" recommendation and wth three
previously published fiscal notes: #1 (LAW, #2

(ADM), and #3 (COR).
#hb209
HOUSE BILL NO. 209

"An Act directing the Departnment of Health and Soci al
Services to establish a foster care transition program
relating to that program and providing for an
effective date."

(Tape Failure occurred at the beginning of the neeting).

REPRESENTATI VE DYSON, spoke on behalf of the House Health,
Educati on and Social Services Standing Commttee, sponsor of
HB 209 in support of the legislation. He observed that the
guestioned is whether or not help should be provided to
children that are "aging out" of the state foster care
system Currently, foster care children turning 18 years of
age receive what is left of their accunul ated permanent fund
di vidends and are sent on their way. The federal governnent
has passed the Foster Care |ndependence Act in recognition
that kids who have spent their lives in state custody may be
i1l equipped to take up independent |iving when they turn
18. The legislation would use federal funds to inplenent
services for children ages 18 — 21, [who are no longer in
foster care]. The University of Al aska has agreed to take
sone of the children on schol arships and | abor unions have
agreed to apprenticeship prograns to assist in providing job
skills. He pointed out that these children were not

House Fi nance Committee 2 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



successfully adopted and nmany of them have had |ess than
ideal living situations. Many of these children have issues
regardi ng behavi or problens. He enphasized that the program
could make a significant difference in the lives of many of
t hese ki ds.

Representative Harris questioned if federal funds would be
on going or if the state would be asked to take over the
cost of the program

JOANN G BBENS, PROGRAM ADM NI STRATOR, DIVISION OF DI VISION
OF FAMLY AND YOQUTH SERVICES, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
SOCI AL SERVI CES, explained that it is a 5-year federal
program At the end of five years the program would be
subj ect to renewal .

Representative John Davies spoke to the fiscal note. He
observed that the Division expects to receive a m ni num of
$500 thousand federal dollars and questioned if the
Division's current statutory authority would be sufficient
without the need for additional authority through the
Legi sl ative Budget and Audit Conmm ttee.

Ms. G bbens observed that the Division of Famly and Youth
Services has the authority to expend funds. She explained
that the funds would be available to all children in their
custody that are aging out or expected to age out w thout a
per manent hone.

Representative Hudson questioned how many youths would be
served and what services would be provided. Representative
Dyson explained that there are approximately 200 receiving
services: approximately 40 - 60 woul d age out each year. The
nost imediate need is for housing. He noted that services
woul d al so be directed toward nmaking a living, through help
fromthe university and trade schools. Life skills, such as
keepi ng a checkbook, would al so be taught. Prograns woul d be
i ndi vi dual i zed.

In response to a question by Representative Witaker, M.
G bbens noted that the first federal appropriation was $500
thousand dollars, which began in 2000. Representative
Whi t aker observed that the state has been able to receive
the funds since 2000 and questioned the need for
| egislation. M. G bbens explained that current Al aska
statutes do not allow services for children over the age of
18, who are no longer in custody. Federal |aw requires that
a portion of these funds be used for older children, when
they leave state care. The funds are currently being used
for older children that are noving out of custody. The
| egislation would give authority to wuse the funds on
children that have noved out of custody. The |egislation
applies to those over 18.

House Fi nance Committee 3 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



Representative John Davies referred to page 2, line 12. He
noted that the program devel opnent is subject to
appropriation. He questioned if there would be a newline in
the operating budget to appropriate the federal funds. M.
G bbens clarified that the funds have al ready been received.
What is mssing is the statutory authority to spend the
funds on those over 18 years of age. The funds have not all
been expended. The intent is to add to the priorities by
provi di ng services for those over 18 years of age.

Representative Harris summarized that the Dvision 1is
| ooking for statutory authority to conmply with the federal
requi renents.

ROSELYNN CASCY, ADULT LEARNI NG CENTER, ANCHORAGE, testified
via teleconference. She noted that they provide services to
children that have been in foster care and expressed support
for the |egislation.

I n response to a question by Vi ce-Chair Bunde,
Representative Dyson stated that the federal enabling
|l egislation is for 5 years and is subject to renewal. He
expressed the hope that inproved services by the D vision of
Famly and Youth Services would aid children in their
ability to take care of thenselves after their release from
state custody. The programw || cease if state funds are not
appropriated after federal funding has ended. He stressed
that the benefit would be derived fromthe program over the
next 5 years.

I n response to a question by Vi ce-Chair Bunde,
Representative Dyson observed that nuch of the work has
dealt with finding safe housing and helping themto find a
j ob pat h.

Representative Foster MOVED to report CSHB 209 (HSS) out of
Commttee wth the acconpanying fiscal note. There being NO
OBJECTIQN, it was so ordered.

CSHB 209 (HSS) was REPORTED out of Commttee with a "do
pass" recommendation and with a previously published zero
fiscal note: #1 (LAW.

#hb262

HOUSE BILL NO 262

"An Act relating to accounting for and appropriations
of receipts from fees collected by the Departnent of
Labor and Wor kforce Devel opnment for certain inspections
and for certain plunbing and electrical wor ker
certificates of fitness; establishing a building safety
account; and providing for an effective date."

Representative Lisa Miurkowski, Sponsor, spoke in support of
the legislation. She noted that the |legislation was at the

House Fi nance Committee 4 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



request of the departnent to elimnate the sizeabl e backl og
of elevator and boiler inspections.

In the md-1990s there were five electrical inspectors, two
el evat or I nspect ors, and five boiler/pressure vessel
i nspectors to inspect approxi mately 600 el evators statew de.
Currently there are only tw electrical inspectors, one
el evator inspector, and three boiler pressure inspectors to
i nspect nearly 900 el evat ors, W th nearly 6, 000
boi |l er/ pressure vessels overdue for inspection.

Represent ati ve Murkowski explai ned that revenue coll ected by
the four additional inspectors would generate enough funds
for the program to pay for itself. She noted that
di scussi ons have occurred regarding the ability of private
industry to provide the services. She concluded that if the
backlog is going to be reduced and the safety addressed
addi tional inspectors are needed.

Vi ce-Chair Bunde referred to the fiscal note and questi oned
why it is not a net zero.

REMOND HENDERSON, DI RECTOR, DIVISION OF ADM NI STRATI VE
SERVI CES, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
expl ai ned that the cost of the two boiler inspectors and the
el evator inspectors would be $276 thousand dollars but that
fees collected would only be $235 thousand dollars. The fees
do not cover 100 percent of +the costs. The elevator
i nspectors would not cover their costs; the nechanical
i nspectors do cover their costs.

Vi ce- Chair Bunde questioned why the fees were not raised to
cover the costs. Representative Mirkowski observed that fees
are unifornmed, and pointed out that inspections occur in
small renote communities, which cannot sustain the cost. M.
Henderson noted that fees were revised to $40 - $75 dollars
per boil er inspections, depending on size. He added that the
entire conponent would be self-sustaining overtine,
i ncludi ng el evator and boil er inspections.

TAPE HFC 02 — 30, Side A

M. Henderson explained that the estimted increase is $25
thousand dollars per vyear from fees for nechanica
i nspections.

Representative Hudson observed that the workforce is being
i ncreased to acconplish nore of the inspections, which would
rai se revenues fromfees.

M. Henderson clarified that the fees were increased, but

the fees still do not <cover costs. Vice-Chair Bunde
questioned why fees are not sufficient to cover costs. M.

House Fi nance Committee 5 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



Hender son stressed that the intent is to cover costs in the
future.

Representative Lancaster agreed that costs should be
covered. Representative Mirkowski acknow edged that there
may need to be an amendnent. Representative Harris suggested
that fees would have to be raised.

M. Henderson stressed that the conponent is being reduced
by $363 thousand general fund dollars and $695.5 thousand
dollars in general fund program receipts. These funds are
being replaced with income fromthe Buil ding Safety Account.
The bill addresses the whole programw th the goal of naking
it self-sufficient.

Representative John Davies asked for further clarification
of the fiscal note. M. Henderson noted that the D vision
takes in approximately $1 million dollars a year in program
receipts, but only has authorization to spend $695.0
t housand dollars; the rest is |apsing. Representative Davies
concluded that the Division receives excess receipts already
and is asking for authority to expend them under the new
cat egory.

In response to a question by Representative Croft, M.
Henderson clarified that the change in revenues from the
increase in fees is $235.0 thousand dol | ars.

Representative Lancaster questioned what woul d happen after
t he backl og i s addressed.

REBECCA NANCE GAMEZ, DEPUTY DI RECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR
AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT explained that there is an aging
wor kforce in the mnmechanical inspection portion of their
operation and thought that attrition would take care of the
i ssue once the backlog is handled. She noted that there are
a couple of enployees who are slated for retirenent but
agreed to stay on to assist in the backlog. She noted that
the positions are difficult to fill.

Representative Whitaker asked how the legislation would
affect the fees. Ms. Ganmez observed that fees are
established by regul ation. She did not think that fees woul d
be affected by the |egislations.

RI CH MASTRI ANO, DI VI SION OF LABOR AND STANDARDS, DEPARTNENT
OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT expl ained that the fees
are an averaged based on the entire state. If fees were
rai sed sone outlying areas would be set at a higher rate.

HB 262 was heard and HELD in Committee for further
consi derati on.

#hb297

HOUSE Bl LL NO. 297

House Fi nance Committee 6 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



"An Act related to aggravating factors at sentencing.”

REPRESENTATI VE KEVI N MYERS, SPONSOR, spoke in support of the
| egi sl ation. He noted that HB 297 adds an aggravating factor
that says when drugs or alcohol are wused to |lower the
inhibitions of a person to a point where they becone the
victim of a sexual assault; the seriousness of the crine
should and could be elevated in the eye of the court. By
adding this to the list of aggravating factors (there are
al ready 28 or 29) defendants in felony sexual assault crines
may be held to a higher degree of punishnment. HB 297 w |
allow a judge to increase a presunptive sentence up to the
maxi mum term of inprisonment for that offense. Sexual
assault continues to be a crime that devastates our
comunities: both urban and rural.

Representative Mer noted that he is on the Board of
Directors of STAR (Stand Together Against Rape). He
expl ained that there are new drugs, Rohypnol and GHB, which
are commonly known as “date rape” drugs. Sex offenders use
these drugs to prevent victins from being able to resist,
and defend thenselves. He noted that he has two daughters
and expressed his concern, as a father, that they could
experience such drugs. He nmaintained that society wants sex
of fenders who use these drugs to receive stiffer penalties.
The bill does not require the Court to inpose stricter
penalties in sexual assault cases [involving drugs or
al cohol]; it sinply provides the court with the ability to
do so.

Representati ve Myer observed t hat t here are t wo
indeterminate fiscal notes and one zero fiscal note and
acknowl edged that there could be additional fiscal costs if
a judge used the aggravator to increase sentencing, but felt
that the inpact would be relatively small

Representative Foster observed that a first tine offender
could receive from 8 to 30 years. He questioned why the
fiscal note is zero. Representative Myer explained that the
maxi mum t hat could be given is 30 years. Ei ght years is the
presunptive sentence for sexual assault. He acknow edged
that a judge could go up to 30 years, but he felt it would
be unlikely.

Vi ce-Chair Bunde pointed out that males are not the only
ones responsible for sexual assault. He recalled that
| egi sl ati on was previously passed regarding the use of "date
rape" drugs and questioned how HB 297 would fit. He noted
that it was already illegal to use a date rape drug.

Representative Croft explained that the previous |egislation

crimnalized possession and distribution of "date rape"
drugs. The current |egislation would address the use of date

House Fi nance Committee 7 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



rape drugs or anything that woul d i ncapacitate soneone in an
attenpt to further the crinme of rape.

Representati ve Wi t aker expressed concern t hat t he
provi sions of the legislation could be abused. He questi oned
if there were discussions in previous conmmttees regarding
possi bl e abuse of the provision. He gave the exanple of two
persons, sharing a bottle of wne, where one decides
afterwards that there was a circunstance that occurred that
woul d not have occurred without the bottle of w ne.

Representative Myer recalled discussions, which occurred in
the House Judiciary Commttee regarding the scenario, put
forth by Representative Whitaker. He noted that the key word
is "incapacitated."” He observed that "incapacitated" neans:
"tenporarily incapabl e of appraising the nature of one's own
conduct or physically unable to express unwllingness to
act." He pointed out that sexual assault is difficult to
prove. He concluded that a couple sharing a bottle of w ne
woul d not be a factor.

Representative Mer recalled that Representative Berkowtz
argued that the aggravator was unneeded since an aggravator
exi sts under AS 12.55.155(c)(5) that: the defendant knew or
reasonably should have known that the victim of the offense
was particularly vulnerable or incapable of resistance.
However, the director of STAR provided exanples of related
cases in which the court didn't use AS 12.55.155(c)(5) in
sentencing. Representative Meyer stressed the need to
clarify that [date rape] drugs and excessive al cohol would
not be tolerated in cases of sexual assault.

Representative John Davies pointed out that they would have
to denonstrate that the wine was shared with the intent of
i ncapacitating the victimfor the purpose of sexual assault.

Representative Hudson questioned if the legislation was on
behal f of the judicial system Representative Myer clarified
that the Board of Directors for STAR discussed the need for
the legislation. Representative Hudson observed that the
| egi slation is perm ssive.

LAURA HUGONIN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, ALASKA NETWORK ON
DOVESTI C VI OLENCE AND SEXUAL ASSAULT testified in support of
the legislation. She explained that Rohypnol and GHB were
added to the felony drug list in 1997. There has been nore
use of GHB in connection with sexual assault in Al aska,
especially in the Kenai anong younger offenders. She
stressed the need for a strong nessage. She acknow edged the
extension of jail tinme but enphasized that concurrent
sentences, probation and other factors mtigate jail tine.

House Fi nance Committee 8 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



In response to a question by Representative John Davies, M.
Hugonin recalled that sone cases were brought forward in
Anchor age.

Representative John Davies thought that the presunptive
range was currently 8 to 25 years. The |egislation would
only extend the maxi numrange by 5 years.

Vice-Chair Bunde noted that sone drugs are illegal to
possess but not illegal to use. He questioned if that were
the case wth Rohypnol and GHB.

Ms. Hugonin pointed out that the in situations were there is
sexual assault the drugs are surreptitiously given to the
victim The drug can take away the victinms ability to nove.

Represent ati ve Hudson questioned if the value is in the form
of prevention. M. Hugonin observed that nedia canpaigns
woul d educate persons regarding the penalty, but that there
woul d be additional value in the prevention of additional
assaults during their time of incarceration. She observed
t hat sexual offenders generally commt nultiple offenses.

Representative Foster MOVED to report HB 297 (JUD) out of
Commttee wth the acconpanying fiscal note. There being NO
OBJECTIQN, it was so ordered.

CSHB 297 (JUD) was REPORTED out of Conmittee with a "do
pass" recommendation and with three previously published
fiscal notes: #1 (LAW, #2 (ADM, and #3 (COR).

#

ADJ QURNVENT

The neeting was adjourned at 3:03 PM

House Fi nance Committee 9 02/ 21/ 02 1:52 PM



